FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington  
2/16/2021 8:00 AM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
2/16/2021  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

99505-2

NO. 54173-4-II

---

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

ERIC JOHNSON AND RICHARD MANKAMYER,

Appellants,

v.

THE WASHINGTON STATE CONSERVATION COMMISSION and  
the following in their individual and official capacities: JIM KROPF,  
CHAIR; DEAN LONGRIE, VICE-CHAIR; HAROLD CROSE,  
COMMISSIONER; LARRY COCHRAN, COMMISSIONER; DARYL  
WILLIAMS, COMMISSIONER; SARAH SPAETH, COMMISSIONER;  
PERRY BEALE, COMMISSIONER; THOMAS MILLER,  
COMMISSIONER; EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MARK CLARK;

**I. Introduction:**

A. Identity of Petitioners: Eric Johnson and Richard Mankamyer ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. Court of Appeals Decision: A copy of the decision of the Court of Appeals which the petitions want reviewed is in Appendix 1: *Johnson v Washington State Conservation Commission*, Div. II, No. 54173-4-II (2/9/21). This decision was published on February 9, 2021. Petitioners ask this Court to review is section IV (Attorney Fees) at pages 28-29.

**II. Assignment of Error:**

No. 1: The Court of Appeals erred in denying the petitioners penalties, costs, or fees under the OPMA. RCW 42.30.120.

**Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error:**

No. 1: The Court of Appeals found that the Commission violated the OPMA but denied any recovery under the OPMA. Does that conflict with *Miller v. City of Tacoma*, 138 Wn.2d 318, 332 (1999) which held that:

Any person who prevails against a public agency in any action in the courts for a violation of this chapter shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action.

No. 2: Although the Court of Appeals found that the Commission violated the OPMA, it denied any recovery under the OPMA because the

petitioners were not “substantially prejudiced” under the APA. Does that conflict with *West v. Pierce County Council*, 197 Wn.App 895, 898-899 (2017), which determined that the plain language of the OPMA conferred standing on “any person” to bring a claim for sanctions?

### **III. Statement of the Case:**

Petitioners were Thurston Conservation District Supervisors terminated by the State Conservation Commission after a hearing under the OPMA. Petitioners repeatedly objected to an adjudication under the OPMA and filed suit in Thurston County Superior Court for declaratory and injunctive relief, and for attorney fees. The gravamen of the complaint alleged that their termination violated the OPMA because adjudications are preempted by the APA under RCW 42.30.140(3).

Although the Court of Appeals acknowledged that the petitioners made a claim for reasonable attorney’s fees under the OPMA and found that the Commission violated the OPMA,<sup>1</sup> it declined to award any penalties, costs, or fees under the OPMA.

### **IV. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted. RAP 13.4(b)**

#### **A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.**

---

<sup>1</sup> See Appendix at A-1: The Court acknowledged the petitioners made a claim for reasonable attorney fees under the OPMA in fn. 20. Denial of fees under the OPMA is discussed at pages 28-30. <https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/D2%2054173-4-II%20Published%20Opinion.pdf>

In *Miller v. City of Tacoma*, 138 Wn.2d 318 (1999) this Court held:

The trial court found the council members "believed that they were acting appropriately under the law," CP at 284 (finding of fact 10), when they conducted secret ballots in executive session. They are therefore not subject to a civil penalty pursuant to RCW 42.30.120(1). However Miller is entitled to recover her reasonable attorney's fees and costs both at the trial level and for this appeal. See RAP 18.1(a) ("If applicable law grants to a party the right to recover reasonable attorney fees or expenses on review, the party must request the fees or expenses as provided in this rule . . ."); RCW 42.30.120(2) ("Any person who prevails against a public agency in any action in the courts for a violation of this chapter shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action."); *Protect the Peninsula's Future v. Clallam County*, 66 Wn. App. 671, 678, 833 P.2d 406 (1992).

*Miller* at 331-332.

Although the Court of Appeals found the Commission violated the OPMA, it denied costs and attorney's fees under the OPMA [RCW 42.30.120(4)]. The Court conflated standing for recovery under the APA (i.e. "substantial prejudice") with standing for recovery under the OPMA. Under the OPMA "any person" can sue for violation of that act and, if successful, is legally entitled to penalties, costs, and fees. Here, the Court of Appeals overlooked the personal liability of Commissioners who,

despite notice,<sup>2</sup> took “action”<sup>3</sup> in violation of the OPMA. As such, each member “shall be subject to personal liability in the form of a civil penalty in the amount of five hundred dollars for the first violation.” RCW 42.30.120(1).

**B. The decision is in conflict with published decisions of the Court of Appeals.**

In *Protect the Peninsula's Future (PPF) v. Clallam County*, 66 Wn. App. 671, 678 (1992), the Court of Appeals held that PPF was entitled to an award of attorney’s fees because PPF had established at trial that the Commission had taken an "action" in violation of the OPMA.

In *West v. Pierce County Council*, 197 Wn.App 895, 898-899 (2017), the Court interpreted RCW 42.30.120(4) and held that “Any person who prevails against a public agency in any action in the courts for a violation of this chapter shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with such legal action.”

Likewise, in *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 110 Wn. App. 212, 226-227 (2002) the court stated: “While the knowledge element is required to

---

<sup>2</sup> This is set forth in the Appellant’s Court of Appeals Brief at pages 5-7

<https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A02/541734%20Appellant's%20Brief.pdf>

<sup>3</sup> RCW 42.30.020(3): "Action" means the transaction of the official business of a public agency by a governing body including but not limited to receipt of public testimony, deliberations, discussions, considerations, reviews, evaluations, and final actions. "Final action" means a collective positive or negative decision, or an actual vote by a majority of the members of a governing body when sitting as a body or entity, upon a motion, proposal, resolution, order, or ordinance.

impose the civil penalty, it is not a necessary element for recovering attorney fees.” Id., at 226 [citing: *Miller v. City of Tacoma*, 138 Wn.2d 318, 331 (1999)]. “If an improper meeting took place, even without the Council members' knowledge that the meeting violated the OPMA, then attorney fees are provided by the Act. RCW 42.30.120(2).” *Eugster* at 227.

**V. Conclusion:**

Petitioners respectfully request the Court award them penalties, costs and attorney fees authorized by RCW 42.30.120.