FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/15/2021 11:18 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99505-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## ERIC JOHNSON AND RICHARD MANKAMYER,

Petitioners,

v.

THE WASHINGTON STATE CONSERVATION COMMISSION and the following in their individual and official capacities: JIM KROPF, CHAIR; DEAN LONGRIE, VICE-CHAIR; HAROLD CROSE, COMMISSIONER; LARRY COCHRAN, COMMISSIONER; DARYL WILLIAMS, COMMISSIONER; SARAH SPAETH, COMMISSIONER; PERRY BEALE, COMMISSIONER; THOMAS MILLER, COMMISSIONER; EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MARK CLARK; POLICY DIRECTOR RON SHULTZ; JOHN AND JANE DOES 1-10,

Respondents.

## I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners seek review only of the determination below that they were not entitled to costs and attorneys' fees, devoid of any claim of error as to the merits of this case. This narrow question does not merit review.

After a day-long hearing, during which it heard evidence through sworn testimony and exhibits, the Washington State Conservation Commission (Commission) voted to remove Petitioners Mr. Johnson and Mr. Mankamyer (Johnson) from their volunteer positions as Thurston Conservation District supervisors for malfeasance and neglect of duty. Johnson challenged their removal in superior court, where they successfully argued, *inter alia*, that the Commission should have held the hearing required by the Commission's removal statute, RCW 89.08.200, as an Administrative Procedure Act (APA) adjudication, rather than as a hearing governed by the Open Public Meetings Act (OPMA).

On review, the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court on this issue, holding that the Commission misinterpreted the APA when it determined that an APA adjudicative proceeding was not required. Because the Court of Appeals also held that Johnson was not substantially prejudiced by the hearing procedure, it held Johnson did not prevail against the Commission. Johnson does not seek review of the holding that they were not substantially prejudiced, nor the holding that they did not prevail.

In their Petition for Review, Johnson challenges none of the substantive holdings of the Court of the Appeals, and instead seeks costs, attorneys' fees, and penalties under the OPMA. But the Court of Appeals

held that the OPMA did not apply, because the hearing was an adjudicative proceeding governed by the APA. The Court of Appeals denied Johnson recovery of costs and fees under the inapplicable statute. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case and prior published opinions of this Court or state Courts of Appeals, because Johnson did not prevail against the Commission, and therefore are not entitled to costs, fees or penalties, and the cases cited by Johnson are not applicable to this matter, which is governed by the APA.

# II. RESTATMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the Court of Appeals err when it declined to award costs and fees to a non-prevailing party under an inapplicable statute?

## III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Commission has the authority to remove local Conservation District supervisors from their volunteer positions for malfeasance or neglect of duty. RCW 89.08.200. Before doing so, the supervisors are entitled to notice and a hearing. RCW 89.08.200; WAC 135-110-960. After due consideration, the Commission originally determined it was not required to hold the meeting as an APA adjudication. AR 1490–91. Johnson objected, but the Commission did not change its determination. Ultimately the hearing was held on February 20, 2019, and Mr. Johnson and Mr. Mankamyer were removed from their positions. AR 2396; AR 2397.

Johnson filed an action against the Commission in superior court. Among other issues, Johnson argued that the Commission erred when it decided not to hold the hearing as an APA adjudication. CP 0026–27 (First

Amended Complaint and Petition for Judicial Review) (Appendix A) at 3–4. The superior court agreed with Johnson. *Johnson v. Wash. Conservation Comm'n*, No. 54173-4, slip op. at 6 (Wash. Feb. 9, 2021) (Appendix B). Johnson appealed the superior court's Order on Summary Judgment, and the Commission cross-appealed. The Court of Appeals held that the superior court did not err when it ruled that the Commission improperly held the removal hearing outside the APA. Appendix B at 29. However, the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court's ruling that Johnson was substantially prejudiced by the hearing procedure. Appendix B at 30. The Court of Appeals also held that Johnson was not entitled to costs or fees under either the APA or the OPMA. Appendix B at 29.

Johnson does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' holdings on the merits. Johnson only seeks costs, attorneys' fees and penalties under the OPMA, the statute they argued below did not apply.

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Johnson did not prevail against the Commission, and therefore is not entitled to relief in the form of costs, fees, or penalties. Additionally, Johnson does not assign error to the Court of Appeals' determination that the agency action under review was the Commission's interpretation of the APA. Appendix B at 22. Below, Johnson argued that the removal hearing was governed by the APA, and that the OPMA did not apply. Reply Brief of Appellants/Cross Respondents (Appendix C) at 10. The Court of Appeals agreed. Appendix B at 24 ("It is outside the Commission's authority to hold an adjudication outside of the APA."). Because the agency action on review

was the Commission's interpretation of the APA, and not action taken under the OPMA, the cases cited by Johnson addressing agency action taken under the OPMA are inapplicable. There is no conflict with a decision of this Court or of the Courts of Appeals to be resolved. RAP 13.4(b).

# A. Johnson is Not a Prevailing Party Entitled to Costs and Attorneys' Fees

The Court of Appeals held that Johnson was not entitled to costs and attorneys' fees under the APA because they were not substantially prejudiced by the removal hearing procedure, and therefore did not prevail. Appendix B at 29. The Court of Appeals also held that the OPMA did not apply to the action under review, which was the Commission's interpretation of the APA. *Id.* Therefore Johnson is not entitled to costs and attorneys' fees under the OPMA.

In an APA appeal, a court "shall grant relief only if it determines that a person seeking judicial relief has been substantially prejudiced by the action complained of." RCW 34.05.570(1)(d); *Densley v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 162 Wn.2d 210, 225, 173 P.3d 885 (2007). Under the APA, damages, compensation or ancillary relief may be awarded only to the extent expressly authorized by another provision of law. RCW 34.05.574(3).

The Court of Appeals held that Johnson was not substantially prejudiced by the Commission's action. Appendix B at 27. Johnson was not prejudiced because they were afforded procedural rights at the hearing, and the additional procedures they sought were permissive, not mandatory. Appendix B at 26. Because Johnson was not substantially prejudiced, they

did not prevail against the Commission. Appendix B at 29. Johnson does not appeal this holding. Because Johnson was not substantially prejudiced, even if another provision of law applied, they are not entitled to costs and fees under the APA. RCW 34.05.570(1)(d), .574(3).

In order to be awarded costs and fees under the OPMA, a person must have "prevail[ed] against a public agency." RCW 42.30.120(4) (emphasis added). The uncontested holding of the Court of Appeals was that Johnson did not prevail against the Commission. Appendix B at 29. Therefore Johnson is not entitled to costs and fees under the OPMA.

The OPMA does not apply to matters governed by the APA. RCW 42.30.140(3). Again, the action under review was "the Commission's interpretation of the APA." Appendix B at 22. The Court of Appeals reviewed the agency decision under RCW 34.05.570(3), which governs review of agency orders in APA adjudicative proceedings. Appendix B at 22. The Court of Appeals held that the Commission improperly interpreted RCW 34.05.416 as allowing it the choice to not hold the removal hearing required by RCW 89.08.200 under the APA. Appendix B at 25 (finding that the Commission misapplied RCW 34.05.416). The Court of Appeals found that the APA must apply to the removal hearing. Appendix B at 25. Because the APA applies, the OPMA does not. RCW 42.30.140(3).

Johnson is not a prevailing party. Additionally, the OPMA does not apply to the action taken by the Commission. The Court of Appeals properly declined to award costs and fees to Johnson under the OPMA.

# B. Johnson is not entitled to penalties under RCW 42.30.120(1)

In no event is Johnson entitled to penalties under RCW 42.30.120(1). First, Johnson is not a prevailing party. Second, as discussed above, the action at issue was the Commission's interpretation of the APA, which the Court of Appeals analyzed under RCW 34.05.570, and the OPMA does not apply. And third, the requirement that the Commissioners have knowledge that their action was taken in violation of the OPMA is not met, because the Commissioners had no such knowledge.

Penalties against individual members of a governing body can only be imposed when those members attending a meeting held under the OPMA have knowledge that the meeting violates the OPMA. RCW 42.30.120(1); *Miller v. City of Tacoma*, 138 Wn.2d 318, 331, 979 P.2d 429 (1999). Here the Commissioners did not have knowledge that the Commission was required to hold the removal hearing under the APA, and therefore the Commissioners are not individually subject to penalties.

A claim for penalties under the OPMA requires evidence that members of a governing body know they are taking action in violation of the OPMA. *Wood v. Battle Ground School Dist.*, 107 Wn. App. 550, 566–67, 27 P.3d 1208 (2001). Unlike the members of the School Board in *Wood*, where Board members emailed each other discussing possible OPMA violations, here there is no evidence indicating that the Commissioners had knowledge that the removal hearing could only be held pursuant to the APA.

Johnson appears to suggest that their objections to the format of the removal hearing resulted in the Commissioners having actual knowledge their selected format was incorrect. Petition for Review at 3–4 (vaguely claiming that the Commission had "notice"). This is not the case. The Court of Appeals rejected a similar speculative argument in *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, finding that Mr. Eugster's OPMA objections to the Spokane City Council procedures were not evidence sufficient to show that the Council had prior knowledge of a violation of the OPMA. *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 110 Wn. App. 212, 226, 39 P.3d 380 (2002). The same is true here, where Johnson's objections do not confer affirmative knowledge of a violation on the Commissioners.

In the Commission's letter of September 13, 2018, it explained its good-faith reasoning on the choice of hearing format. AR 1490–91. Johnson points to no evidence in the record that the Commissioners had the requisite knowledge they were acting in violation of the OPMA. The Commissioners are not subject to penalties pursuant to RCW 42.30.120(1). *Miller*, 138 Wn.2d at 331.

## V. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Johnson's Petition for Review should be denied.

The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with opinions of this Court

//

//

//

nor with opinions of the Courts of Appeals, and this Court's review is not warranted.